## IN THE SUPREME COURT

## OF FLORIDA

ව දැනටු 1.1.777

وسلطة سأزاده

Case No. 70,428

DAVID GORHAM,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

#

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. Whether the trial court erred in summarily dismissing DAVID GORHAM'S Rule 3.850 Motion, without explanation, citation to the record or benefit of an evidentiary hearing, where GORHAM'S motion alleged colorable factual claims of ineffective assistance of trial counsel and of <u>Brady</u> and <u>Giglio</u> violations at trial which were bolstered by specific evidence.

2. Whether the trial court erred in denying DAVID GORHAM an evidentiary hearing where GORHAM's 3.850 Motion alleged colorable factual claims, bolstered by specific evidence, and uncontradicted by the record.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

DAVID GORHAM was convicted after a trial by jury of first degree murder and sentenced to death on October 26, 1982. The conviction and sentence were affirmed by this Court in <u>Gorham</u>  $\underline{v. State}$ , 454 So.2d 556 (Fla. 1984) (per curiam). GORHAM subsequently obtained new counsel who conducted an extensive posttrial investigation.

On January 16, 1986, relying in large part upon information discovered through counsel's post-trial investigation, GORHAM filed a motion to vacate his conviction and sentence pursuant to Rule 3.850 of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, raising substantial constitutional issues. GORHAM argued that his conviction and death sentence were unconstitutional because, among other grounds: the State had suppressed

- 1 -

exculpatory evidence; the State had permitted a critical state witness to commit perjury; and GORHAM's trial attorney did not provide effective assistance of counsel.

On March 24, 1986, the trial judge ruled that <u>Scott v.</u> <u>State</u> obligated GORHAM to sign the Rule 3.987 form oath and dismissed the petition. GORHAM appealed that dismissal in <u>Gorham v.</u> <u>State</u>, Case No. 68,664 and, while this Court affirmed, in its ruling, it clarified the requirement of personal knowledge for purposes of <u>Scott v. State</u>, 464 So.2d 1171 (Fla. 1985). On remand, appellant amended his Rule 3.850 petition to meet the requirements of <u>Scott</u>, the State responded and the trial court denied the petition without granting an evidentiary hearing. This appeal follows.

As described in GORHAM's Rule 3.850 motion, the pertinent facts begin with the date of October 30, 1981, when the body of Carl Peterson, a middle-aged white male, was found by officers of the Pompano Beach Police Department. The body was near a bathroom inside a warehouse building with a large open baydoor which was being utilized as an excavation contracting center and truck repair shop. M. at 5 <u>citing</u> Tr. 359-60. $\frac{1}{}$  Peterson had been shot twice in the back. <u>Id</u>. <u>citing</u> Tr. 325. Various papers, as well as Peterson's wallet, were found near the body.

 $<sup>\</sup>frac{1}{2}$  Throughout this brief, "M." refers to the 3.850 motion which is part of the record on this appeal and "Tr." refers to the trial transcript.

<u>Id</u>. <u>citing</u> Tr. 367, 371. Although Peterson's credit cards were missing, the wallet still contained two hundred dollars in cash. Id. citing Tr. 388.

The officers were accompanied by Kenneth Gardner, an inmate at the nearby Pompano Detention Facility. Gardner had returned to the facility from work release with an injured leg. After he was questioned regarding the injury, he told the police that he had heard a shooting and fell while he was running from the shots. Gardner went with police to the crime scene and he directed police to look in Mr. Peterson's garage. <u>Id</u>. <u>citing</u> Tr. 458-459.

The day after the killing, Peterson's credit cards were used at various stores in the Pompano area. GORHAM, a young black male, was identified by store clerks from a police photograph as the individual using the stolen credit cards. <u>Id</u>. <u>citing</u> Tr. 421. Further investigation also showed that GORHAM's fingerprint was found on a paper receipt located near the crime scene. Id. citing Tr. 584.

The investigation by the Pompano Beach Police Department also led the detectives to an apartment rented by Diane Walker and Louise Owens. Louise Owens was GORHAM's lady friend and GORHAM frequently stayed at this apartment. Upon searching the apartment, police found some of the purchases charged to Peterson's credit cards. M. at 6 <u>citing</u> Tr. 611-14. They also found a box of Remington & Peters .38 caliber lead nose bullets.

- 3 -

<u>Id</u>. <u>citing</u> Tr. 614. Shortly thereafter, the police located and arrested GORHAM.

After GORHAM's arrest, he allegedly made several statements to police without the presence of an attorney. In his statements, GORHAM admitted the fraudulent use of the credit cards. He initially denied being in the vicinity of the homicide, claiming that he bought the credit cards from two men. <u>Id</u>. <u>citing</u> Tr. 625, 631. GORHAM then told the police that he found the credit cards on the road in a wallet a few feet outside the garage.

GORHAM stated that he was walking along 5th Street and heard shots. He looked down the street and saw two or three men running.<sup>2/</sup> They jumped into a car and fled west on 5th Street. GORHAM continued walking and about five to seven feet outside the warehouse, he noticed a wallet. He picked it up, pulled out the credit cards and then threw the wallet down. <u>Id</u>. <u>citing</u> Tr. 641. In all his statements to police, however, GORHAM steadfastly denied participating in the robbery or the murder of Carl Peterson.

<sup>&</sup>lt;u>2</u>/ GORHAM informed his attorney, Mr. Gelety, that one of these men was Tim Carlo, a local hoodlum with a reputation as an armed robber. This lead was never pursued by trial counsel. Undersigned counsel have attempted to locate Carlo, however, efforts to locate Carlo have been hindered by Judge Seay's discovery decision not to allow with regard to the 3.850 Motion.

At trial, only one of the State's witnesses gave any testimony linking GORHAM to the crime; the other prosecution witnesses did not. Barbara Jean Slocumbe lived near Peterson's garage and testified that the night Peterson was killed, she heard gunshots at about 6:25 p.m. <u>Id</u>. <u>citing</u> Tr. 436. She testified, however, that when she looked outside, she did not see anything. Id. citing Tr. 436.

The State also called Kenneth Gardner, the work release inmate who reported the crime to the police. Despite pressure from the prosecution, Gardner's testimony tended to confirm GORHAM's innocence. Gardner testified that he saw two men outside Peterson's garage just before the shooting. He kept walking and heard a shot that seemed very close. Gardner started to run but slipped on the railroad tracks, hurting his ankle. Gardner then heard two more shots. He turned around and saw someone running. Although the individual fleeing appeared to have on white socks and a white shirt, Gardner was not certain However, Gardner was able to state what the man was wearing. unequivocally that GORHAM was not the man that he saw. Indeed, Gardner further testified that he was positive that he had never seen GORHAM before in his life. M. at 7 citing Tr. 457-468.

On cross-examination, Gardner stated that prior to trial, the prosecutor offered to reinstate his probation if he would change his testimony and identify GORHAM as being the person who ran from the crime scene. Gardner testified that he

- 5 -

would not lie about such an important matter and refused to falsely implicate GORHAM in the murder of Carl Peterson. <u>Id</u>. citing Tr. 466-67.

The key witness for the State was Ada Johnson. She testified that on the morning of the murder, GORHAM had attempted to rent an apartment from her and promised to get approximately \$600.00 which he would need for the rent and the deposit. She also stated that GORHAM had a pistol of unidentified caliber with him and indicated that he would use the gun to get the money he needed. <u>Id</u>. <u>citing</u> Tr. 526-27. Ada Johnson then testified that she was approximately one block away from the crime scene a few minutes after the shots were fired. Although she could only see the back of one man running, Johnson testified that she thought the man was GORHAM, because he was wearing clothing similar to what GORHAM had worn earlier in the day.

GORHAM's trial counsel, Michael Gelety, rested immediately after the State's case was completed. No alternative theory of the case was given to the jury. The defense attorney took the position that the State had failed to prove that GORHAM was guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. M. at 8 citing Tr. 692-695.

The Court then instructed the jury that they could convict GORHAM of first degree murder under either a premeditation theory or a felony-murder theory based on the robbery. The Court, however, did not require the jury to reach a unanimous verdict on one or the other theory. After one and one-half hours

- 6 -

deliberation, the jury found GORHAM guilty of first degree murder and attempted robbery.

### The Sentencing Phase

Trial counsel presented no evidence, mitigating or otherwise, on behalf of GORHAM during the October 26, 1984 sentencing hearing and instead moved <u>ore tenus</u> for a brief adjournment to compel the attendance of the seven witnesses he had allegedly subpoenaed for the hearing. M. at 8 <u>citing</u> Tr. 780, 784. The Court denied the continuance motion and after the State presented its evidence of aggravating circumstances, trial counsel immediately rested. Id. citing Tr. 796.

The jury recommended that GORHAM receive a life sentence. Trial counsel then requested that the Court postpone its sentencing for two weeks so that trial counsel would have an opportunity to bring in witnesses in mitigation. The Court granted this request, but on the reset date for sentencing, trial counsel represented to the Court that he was unable to bring in "available" witnesses. He did not request a further continuance or proffer what these witnesses would have said. M. at 9 <u>citing</u> Tr. 821. The Court overruled the jury's recommendation and imposed a sentence of death on DAVID GORHAM. <u>Id. citing</u> Tr. 839-845.

GORHAM's court-appointed trial counsel, Mr. Gelety, was reappointed to represent GORHAM in the direct appeal to the Supreme Court of Florida. None of the points raised as to guilt were considered meritorious by the Court.

- 7 -

The Supreme Court of Florida did, however, find that the trial court's sentencing analysis was partly erroneous. The Court found that the murder could not be considered especially heinous, atrocious or cruel and that there was insufficient evidence that the murder was premeditated. The Court, nevertheless, affirmed the death sentence. The Court stated that the trial court properly found that the crime was committed while the defendant was under an existing sentence and that the murder was committed during the commission of a felony.

### The Post-Trial Investigation

After DAVID GORHAM's direct appeal to the Supreme Court of Florida was lost, new counsel was appointed as clemency counsel. After reviewing the record, counsel conducted an extensive independent investigation of the case leading to significant findings.

### Loretta Forehand

The most significant discovery of this post-trial investigation was the discovery of another witness, Loretta Forehand, who was at the scene of the shooting of Carl Peterson. Pursuant to Rule 3.190(j), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, Ms. Forehand's deposition was not only transcribed but also video taped. M. at Exhibit E.

Ms. Forehand is an eighty-two year old life-long resident of South Florida. <u>Id</u>. She worked as a Christian volun-

- 8 -

teer and was in the vicinity of the shooting, along with seventeen year old Haralene Spence, attempting to collect money for her Church. Id.

Ms. Forehand was standing and talking to Miss Spence about how much money they had collected so far that evening, when Forehand heard two loud shouts and saw the muzzle flashes from the guns inside Peterson's garage. <u>Id</u>. The garage door was half open. Forehand could see in from outside. <u>Id</u>. After no more than three or four minutes, she saw two men running past a car from the direction of the garage and past her. <u>Id</u>. Because they were running at a furious pace, Ms. Forehand did not see their faces, but one of the running men was tall and one was short. Id. She did not know if they dropped anything. Id.

As they ran by, she saw GORHAM walking toward her from a direction opposite from Peterson's garage. <u>Id</u>. He was about twenty feet away when she first noticed him coming. <u>Id</u>. She knew both GORHAM and his girlfriend, Louise Owens, from her church work in the neighborhood, although they were not her friends, because they were not practicing Christians. Id.

As GORHAM was walking, she saw him stoop down, pick something up from the ground and quickly put it in his pocket, as if he did not want her to see what it was. <u>Id</u>. She thought it might be money and wanted it for her church. <u>Id</u>. GORHAM kept walking past her and just told her he was on his way home.

- 9 -

As she was leaving the scene, two police officers stopped and questioned her. She told them: "I seen some shooting in there or backfire . . . I saw two men running that way." <u>Id</u>. She did not tell them about seeing GORHAM, because he was on the other side away from where the shooting occurred. <u>Id</u>. The officers took her name and address but they did not take a written statement from her. Id.

Prior to trial, no one, neither the State nor trial counsel, asked her about what she saw. Nor did trial counsel call her on the telephone to interview her even though Louise Owens had given counsel Ms. Forehand's name, address and phone number. Ms. Forehand also was never served with a supboena to testify at the sentencing hearing. Id.

### Ada Johnson's Lenient Treatment

Counsel also discovered that the State withheld from the defense several other items of exculpatory evidence, none of which was disclosed to trial counsel.

Prior to trial, Mr. Gelety requested the State to produce any material information within the State's possession which would impeach the credibility of, or challenge the competency of, any State witnesses. M. at Exhibit H. Although the Pompano Beach Police and the State Attorney's Office were in possession of significant impeachment evidence regarding a key State witness, Ada Johnson, it was not produced. M. at Exhibit F. On December 18, 1981, Ada Johnson gave a sworn statement to the police which varied dramatically from her later trial testimony. Nowhere in this statement did she say that she saw GORHAM at the time of the shooting. Rather, she stated merely that she had seen GORHAM earlier that day with a gun and that he had promised to bring her \$700 that evening as a security deposit for an apartment he wanted to rent. She also recounted that she had been questioned by the police the night of the shooting and she had told them that she had not seen or heard anything. M. at Exhibit I.

Ten days after her statement was given, Ada Johnson and her husband were caught stealing merchandise. Johnson was arrested by the Pompano Beach Police and charged with nine counts of criminal misconduct, including grand theft, resisting arrest, and evading arrest. Although arrested along with Ada Johnson, Jim Oscar Smith, Johnson's husband, was arrested but never charged with these offenses. His probation stemming from a separate armed robbery conviction was revoked as a result of this arrest, but the probation was reinstated on January 29, 1982 with the recommendation of the State.

On this same date, January 29, 1982, Johnson pled guilty to grand theft and fleeing a police officer and was sentenced to three years imprisonment to be served concurrently with a sentence she received for violating her probation. On May 13, 1982, Johnson filed a pro se motion pursuant to Rule 3.800(b) of

- 11 -

the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure requesting that her sentence be reduced. M. at Exhibit K. In this sworn motion, Johnson stated that she has been given a "mitigation recommendation" by State Attorney Thomas Kern, who was the assistant state attorney who prosecuted the DAVID GORHAM case. Johnson also stated in her motion that she has been given a "recommendation" by Detective Sergeant Dan Murray. <u>Id</u>. Detective Murray was the detective in charge of the GORHAM investigation.<sup>3</sup>/ This evidence of lenient treatment for Ada Johnson and her husband was not disclosed to the defense prior to trial. Id.

With her secret deal with the State in hand, Ada Johnson changed her story at trial so that she became the key witness who directly implicated GORHAM in the robbery and murder of Carl Peterson. Thus, she testified not only that she had seen GORHAM with a gun early on the day of the murder, but also that she had seen him flee from Carl Peterson's garage shortly after

<sup>3/</sup> Johnson's Motion for Reduction of Sentence was denied on May 26, 1982, because the Court found that it was without jurisdiction. This denial of the Motion, however, is of no real consequence to the question of whether Johnson had something to gain from her cooperation or was led to believe that she would be helped. First, Johnson had already testified during GORHAM's first trial in April - before her Motion was denied - that she had seen GORHAM flee the scene of the Obviously, she would face perjury charges if she murder. backed off from this testimony during the October trial. Moreover, the "recommendations" by Kern and Murray for mitigation of Johnson's sentence could very well have been utilized by Johnson before the parole commission. Thus, Johnson still had something to gain by cooperating with the State.

the shots were fired. Moreover, defense counsel asked Ada Johnson point-blank, "Were you offered any kind of deals?" She replied: "No." M. at 14 <u>citing</u> Tr. 540. Defense counsel then asked, "Did Mr. Kern make any kind of deals toward you or tell you he would write a letter to the parole board or anything like that?" She again responded: "No." <u>Id</u>.

The prosecutor made no attempt to correct this lie. On the contrary, the prosecutor exploited it as much as possible. The final words he stated to the jury were: "I submit that the testimony of Ada Johnson is credible testimony, believable, forthright. She testified she had nothing to gain at this point." Id. citing Tr. 721.

### Evidence of Other Suspects

The State also had in its possession evidence that others may have murdered Peterson. Undersigned counsel uncovered a Pompano Police Memorandum regarding two black male suspects with a history of harassing and robbing Mr. Peterson. Furthermore, the Pompano Police learned of a fight between Peterson and his tenant on the day of the shooting. M. at Exhibits L, M and N. This evidence was never revealed to defense counsel, even though the State's own witness, Ken Gardner, testified to seeing two unidentified males at the murder scene and Philip Portman gave a statement to police that he heard two or more black males run from the crime scene. M. at Exhibits F and O. Moreover, this evidence of other suspects was well within Mr. Gelety's pretrial discovery demand. M. at Exhibit H.

#### The Bloody Footprint

Prior to trial, defense counsel Michael Gelety filed a specific request for "comparison evidence." <u>Id</u>. The State did not produce evidence of a bloody footprint found under Carl Peterson's body by the Pompano Beach Police sometime during the investigation. The State failed to preserve the footprint and failed to disclose its existence to defense counsel, despite his specific request for comparative evidence. M. at Exhibit F. The footprint is now memorialized only by photograph. M. at Exhibit P.

In sum, there is overwhelming evidence supporting GORHAM's Rule 3.850 Motion. The trial court apparently failed to consider this evidence when it summarily dismissed GORHAM's motion without a hearing.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

DAVID GORHAM'S Rule 3.850 Motion raised three serious constitutional issues: (1) perjury by a State witness; (2) failure of the State to disclose exculpatory information; and (3) ineffective assistance of trial counsel; each issue being fully supported by allegations under oath, depositions, affidavits of third party witnesses and public records under seal. The trial court summarily dismissed DAVID GORHAM'S Rule 3.850 Motion without an evidentiary hearing or an opinion by the Court attaching that portion of the record which conclusively shows that GORHAM was entitled to no relief. This summary dismissal is reversible error.

- 14 -

The Rule 3.850 Motion contains irrefutable proof that Ada Johnson perjured herself at trial, that the prosecutor knew of this perjury and that the prosecutor exploited this perjury in his argument to the jury. The Motion contains irrefutable proof that the State failed to produce critical exculpatory evidence, evidence specifically requested by trial counsel. Finally, if the Court should find that the State's misconduct is excusable because the defense counsel failed to exercise due diligence, there is a strong argument presented in GORHAM's motion for a finding of ineffectiveness of counsel.

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