v.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

EDDIE J. BELL Assistant Attorney General 111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (305) 837-5062

Counsel for Appellee

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellant's Motion for Post-Conviction Relief did not state any legally sufficient claim. Appellant's <u>Brady</u> allegations are refuted by the motion itself and attached affidavits. The record, as a whole, refutes Appellant's allegations as to ineffective assistance of trial counsel. An evidentiary hearing on either of Appellant's claims would be an exercise in futility because, even if taken at face value, Appellant's allegations testimony would not have affected the outcome of his trial.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR POST-CONVICTION RELIEF WAS LEGALLY INSUFFICIENT ON ITS FACE.

Appellant argues that the trial court erred by failing to hold an evidentiary hearing and by failing to attach portions of the record to show that Appellant is not entitled to postconviction relief. However, <u>Fla.R.Crim.P</u>., Rule. 3.850 reads in part:

> If the motion and the files and records in the case conclusively show that the prisoner is entitled to no relief, the motion shall be denied without a hearing. In those instances when such denial is not predicated upon the legal insufficiency of the motion on its face, a copy of that portion of the files and records which conclusively shows that the prisoner is entitled to no relief shall be attached to the order. (emphasis added)

Appellee submits that, in the case at bar, Appellant's motion was insufficient on its face and thus there was no need to attach portions of the record to show why he was not entitled to relief. <u>Gulley v. State</u>, 436 So.2d 1042 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983); Watkins v. State, 413 So.2d 1275 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982).

The law is also clear that under 3.850 procedure, a movant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing <u>unless</u> the records <u>conclusively</u> show that the movant is entitled to no relief. <u>O'Callahan v. State</u>, 461 So.2d 1354, 1355 (Fla. 1985); <u>Meeks v.</u> <u>State</u>, 382 So.2d 673, 676 (Fla. 1980). Since <u>sub judice</u>, no portions of the record were attached to the trial court's order, the presumption must be that the lower court's ruling was based on the face of the pleading. <u>Thames v. State</u>, 454 So.2d 1061, 1066 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). Because Appellant's motion, when viewed in light of the entire record at bar, clearly shows that the movant is entitled to no relief, the trial court correctly denied relief without an evidentiary hearing. <u>Middleton v.</u> <u>State</u>, 465 So.2d 1218, 1221 (Fla. 1985); <u>Mann v. State</u>, 482 So.2d 1360, 1361 (Fla. 1986); <u>Porter v. State</u>, 478 So.2d 33 (Fla. 1985); <u>Harich v. State</u>, 484 So.2d 1239 (Fla. 1986); <u>Delap v.</u> <u>State</u>, 505 So.2d 1321 (Fla. 1987). Appellee will proceed to illustrate <u>how</u> the instant record <u>conclusively</u> showed that no legally sufficient point has been raised by Appellant.

> A. APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR POST-CONVICTION RELIEF DID NOT STATE ANY LEGALLY SUFFICIENT GROUNDS TO BASE A BRADY VIOLATION CLAIM ON.

In the Motion for Post-Conviction Relief, Appellant alleged that the State did not disclose several matters, and that the failure to disclose constituted <u>Brady</u> violations. This claim was legally insufficient on the face of the motion and the attached exhibits, which conclusively show that Appellant was not entitled to relief.

1. THE TESTIMONY OF LORETTA FOREHAND

Appellant's claim that the State committed a <u>Brady</u> violation by not disclosing the testimony of Loretta Forehand was

- 12 -

based on a deposition of Forehand taken on December 13, 1984. Since this deposition was attached as Exhibit "E" to Appellant's motion for post-conviction relief, Appellee submits that the trial court could properly rule on the sufficiency of this claim on the basis of the record, without conducting an evidentiary hearing. <u>See Fla.R.Crim.P.</u> 3.850. In addition to the deposition, the praecipe for witness of Appellant's trial counsel which showed that the trial counsel was aware of Loretta Forehand, was attached to Appellant's motion as Exhibit "D." Also attached as Exhibit "F" to Appellant's motion was an affidavit of Appellant's trial attorney, Michael D. Gelety, in which he swears that Loretta Forehand denied any knowledge of the murder and robbery (M.171) From these exhibits, the trial court could determine that Appellant's <u>Brady</u> claim, as to the alleged testimony of Forehand, was legally insufficient on its face.

In the deposition, Ms. Forehand alleged that she told police officers that she saw two men running immediately after the shooting (M.97). Appellant bases his <u>Brady</u> claim on this unsubstantiated allegation. The fact that Ms. Forehand's name appears on the praecipe of witnesses of, Appellant's trial counsel negates the implication that the State suppressed information provided by Ms. Forehand. (M.81). Moreover, as previously noted, Appellant's trial counsel even stated in a sworn affidavit, which Appellant attached to his motion, that Ms. Forehand denied knowledge of the case during the trial (M.171). Thus, the trial court could conclude from the record and files attached to Appellant's motion that the state did not suppress any favorable knowledge that Ms. Forehand may have possessed in regard to the murder and robbery. In the absence of actual suppression of evidence favorable to an accused, the state does not violate due process in denying discovery. <u>Delap v.</u> <u>State, supra; relying on James v. State, 453 So.2d 786, 790 (Fla. 1984), cert denied 469 U.S. 1098 (1984); Antone v. State, 410 So.2d 157 (Fla. 1982); <u>United States v. Luis-Gonzalez</u>, 719 F.2d 1539 (11th Cir. 1983).</u>

As the deposition to perpetrate testimony reveals and as the state pointed out in its response to Appellant's motion, Ms. Forehand was an eighty-two year old witness who had trouble remembering the details of what she allegedly observed. In regard to the two men she allegedly saw immediately after the shooting, Ms. Forehand could only remember that one was tall and the other was short (PR.109). She could not comprehend an aerial view of the crime vicinity (PR.125). Since the only basis for Appellant's Brady claim was Ms. Forehand's unsubstantiated allegation in the deposition, the trial court could determine that the claim was legally insufficient on the basis of Ms. Forehand's deposition and the sworn affidavit of Appellant's trial counsel that Ms. Forehand denied knowledge of the incident during the trial. Thus, there were no factual issues requiring an evidentiary hearing, and because the claim was insufficient on

- 14 -

the face of the motion and attached affidavit, there was no requirement for the trial court to attach the portion of the record showing that Appellant was not entitled to relief. Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.850; Delap v. State, supra.

2. THE ALLEGED PROMISE TO ADA JOHNSON

Appellant contends that the State committed a <u>Brady</u> violation when it allegedly failed to disclose to the defense that Ada Johnson had received lenient treatment in return for her testimony. However, in the motion and its attached affidavit, Appellant did not present any factual basis for this claim, other than Ada Johnson's Motion for Mitigation and Reduction of Sentence in a completely unrelated case (M.244-245).

However, in the Motion for Mitigation, Johnson did not even assert that she received a recommendation of leniency for her testimony in Appellant's case (M.245). Even if Ada Johnson's representations in the motion to mitigate were true, Appellant did not present any facts in the Motions to show that the leniency recommendations of Mr. Kern and Sergeant Murray were given in exchange for Johnson's testmony in Appellant's case. However, Appellant provided no extrinsic evidence of a deal between Johnson and the State, other than Johnson's unverified statement in her pro se motion to mitigate. Moreover, as Sergeant Murray pointed out in his affidavit (M.253), the fact that Johnson was imprisoned for the probation violation and grand

- 15 -

theft was proof that Johnson was not given a lenient deal in exchange for her testimony in Appellant's case. Appellant's claim that Johnson received a deal for lenient treatement was further negated by the fact that the trial court denied Johnson's motion to mitigate.

Johnson's Motion to Mitigate, which was the only basis for Appellant's <u>Brady</u> claim, was insufficient on its face as a matter of law to show that the State offered Johnson a lenient deal in exchange for her testimony in Appellant's case. Thus, the court properly declined to grant an evidentiary hearing on the claim. <u>Delap v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>. Since Appellant's claim was not based on the record and was legally insufficient as a matter of law, the trial court was not required to attach the portion of the record showing Appellant's nonentitlement to relief.

The present case is distinguishable from <u>Giglio v.</u> <u>United States</u>, 405 U.S. 150, 31 L.Ed.2d 104, 92 S.Ct. 763 (1971), a case in which Appellant asserts as controlling. In <u>Giglio</u>, the Government filed an affidavit that confirmed the Petitioner's claim that a promise had been made to a witness that if the witness testified before the grand jury, the witness would not be prosecuted. <u>Id</u>, 31 L.Ed.2d at 107. However, in the present case, Appellant did not present any facts in the Motion establishing that Ada Johnson was promised lenient treatment in exchange for her testimony in Appellant's case. In addition to distinguishing Giglio from the present case, the absence of facts

- 16 -

in Appellant's Motion establishing a deal between the State and Johnson also distinguishes the present case from the other cases relied upon by Appellant.

3. THE BLOODY FOOTPRINT

As with Appellant's other Brady claims, Appellant's claim that the State committed a Brady violation for its alleged failure to disclose a bloody footprint was legally insufficient as a matter of law. The alleged "bloody footprint" which Appellant alludes to in the motion was contained in a photograph which defense counsel had access to, as evidenced by Appellant's attachment of the footprint to the motion as Exhibit "P" (M.271). In the affidavit of Mr. Gelety, Appellant's trial counsel, Mr. Gelety admitted that he viewed many photographs made available to him (M.169). The fact that Appellant attached a photograph of the footprint to the motion reveals that the photograph was made available to Appellant's trial counsel. In the motion, Appellant did not allege or show that he came into possession of the photograph after trial. Although Mr. Gelety states in his carefully-worded affidavit that, to the best of his knowledge, the State did not advise him of a bloody footprint, Mr. Gelety does not say that the State did not make available to him a photograph of the footprint (M.169).

Moreover, Appellant did not allege facts in the motion that showed that the State had suppressed favorable evidence.

- 17 -

Delap v. State, supra; James v. State, supra. Appellant's assertion in the motion that the footprint and plaster cast "might have proven that a bystander or even a Pompano Beach police officer brought the wallet to the body of Carl Peterson after the murder" is sheer speculation, which does not satisfy the materiality requirement for a <u>Brady</u> violation. <u>United States</u> v. Bagley, 473 U.S. ___, 105 S.Ct. 3375, 87 L.Ed.2d 474 (1985); Stone v. State, 481 So.2d 478 (Fla. 1986).

Appellant's <u>Brady</u> claim as to the footprint was reputed by appendixs to the motion, as were his other <u>Brady</u> claims. Therefore, the claim was insufficient as a matter of law. Accordingly, the trial court's summary denial of the claim was proper. Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.850.

> B. APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR POST-CONVICTION RELIEF DID NOT STATE ANY LEGALLY SUFFICIENT GROUNDS TO BASE AN INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL CLAIM ON.

A defendant alleging ineffective representation must meet a two-prong standard before his conviction could be reversed. First, a defendant alleging ineffective representation must show counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. <u>Knight v. State</u>, 394 So.2d 997 (Fla. 1981); <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, <u>U.S.</u>, 80 L.Ed.2d 674,693 (1984); <u>McMann v. Richardson</u>, 397 U.S. 759, 90 S.Ct. 1441, 25 L.Ed.2d 763 (1980). There exists a strong presumption that an attorney's performance was reasonable. <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 694; <u>Michel v. Louisiana</u>, 350 U.S. 91, 76 S.Ct. 158, 100 L.Ed.2d 83 (1984). The second prong of the standard is that the defendant must show that the attorney's deficient performance prejudiced the outcome of the case. <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, <u>supra; Knight v, State</u>, <u>supra; Burger v. Kemp</u>, 735 F.2d 936 (11th Cir. 1985); <u>United States v. Dimatteo</u>, 759 F.2d 831 (11th Cir. 1985). The defendant alleging ineffective representation also must identify the acts or omissions that serve as the basis for the claim. Strickland v. Washington, supra at 695.

In the present case, when viewed in light of the entire trial record, the omissions which Appellant cites to support his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel were legally insufficient as a matter of law. As in <u>Agan v. State</u>, 503 So.2d 1254 (Fla. 1987), the trial judge who entered the order on Appellant's motion to vacate was the same judge who presided at Appellant's trial, and thus, could reasonably and properly determine that the record and files of the case conclusively showed that Appellant was not entitled to relief. <u>See also Bush</u> <u>v. State</u>, 505 So.2d 409. Now Appellee will show that the omissions alleged by Appellant in the motion were legally insufficient as a matter of law.

The first three omissions alleged by Appellant are the same claims that Appellant raised as <u>Brady</u> violations. In regard to Ms. Forehand's statement that she told a police officer that

- 19 -

she saw two men running after the shooting, Appellant asserts that his counsel was ineffective for not discovering this information. However, as previously noted, Appellant's trial counsel, Mr. Gelety, stated in an affidavit attached to the motion that he contacted Ms. Forehand, and Ms. Forehand denied any knowledge of this incident (M.171). Thus, the Motion and exhibits conclusively showed that Appellant was not entitled to relief on the basis of this alleged omission. By contacting Ms. Forehand, Mr. Gelety did all that a competent counsel could do.

Appellant's second claim, the alleged failure of Mr. Gelety to discover an alleged deal between Ada Johnson and the State, was legally insufficient on the face of the motion and its attached affidavits. As previously noted, Appellant did not present any extrinsic evidence of a deal in the motion. The only basis for Appellant's allegation that a deal existed was the unsubstantiated statement of Ada Johnson, in a prose motion to mitigate filed in an unrelated case, that Assistant State Attorney Kern and Detective Murray had promised a lenient recommentation (M.244-245). Johnson did not state in the motion that the lenient recommendation was made in exchange for her testimony in Appellant's case. Thus, where Appellant's motion did not provide any evidence that Johnson's testimony was elicited through a leniency deal, Appellant's claim that his trial counsel was ineffective for not discovering such a leniency deal was legally insufficient on the face of the motion.

- 20 -

Appellant's third claim, the alleged failure of his trial counsel to find other suspects, was also legally insufficient as a matter of law. As a basis for this claim, Appellant asserted that he told his trial counsel that Tim Carlo was one of the two men fleeing the crime scene (M.32). However, other than Appellant's self-interest and unsubstantiated assertion, Appellant did not present any independent evidence in the motion revealing that Appellant informed his trial counsel of Tim Carlo. In the affidavit of his trial counsel which was attached to the motion, Appellant's trial counsel did not mention that Appellant had informed him of a possible suspect (M.171). Moreover, even if it was conceded that Appellant told his trial counsel of Tim Carlo, Appellant did not cite any facts in the motion that supported the claim that his counsel failed to investigate Tim Carlo. Whether or not to call Tim Carlo as a witness was a tactical decision of Appellant's trial counsel, and his trial counsel cannot be held to be incompetent for making the tactical decision. See Lighbourne v. State, 471 So.2d 27,28 (Fla. 1985); Armstrong v. State, 429 So.2d 287 (Fla. 1983).

Appellant did not provide any facts in the motion showing that his trial attorney failed to investigate Tim Carlo, or any other potential suspect. Thus, Appellant's motion was legally insufficient as a matter of law to satisfy the performance prong of <u>Strickland</u>, <u>supra</u>. Moreover, the motion also was legally insufficient as a matter of law to satisfy the

- 21 -

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